FAO LIBRARY AN: 449165

NERC/82/REP

Report of the

# SIXTEENTH FAO REGIONAL CONFERENCE FOR THE NEAR EAST

Nicosia, Cyprus, 25-29 October 1982



#### FAO Member Nations in the Near East region (as at 29 October 1982)

Afghanistan Lebanon Somalia
Bahrain Libya Sudan
Cyprus Mauritania Syria
Djibouti Morocco Tunisia

Egypt Oman United Arab Emirates
Iran Pakistan Yemen Arab Republic

Iraq Qatar Yemen, People's Democratic

Jordan Saudi Arabia, Kingdom of Republic of Kuwait

#### Date and place of FAO Regional Conferences for the Near East:

First - Cairo, Egypt, 2-14 February 1948

Second – Damascus, Syria, 28 August – 6 September 1951

Third — Cairo, Egypt, 1-9 September 1953 Fourth — Damascus, Syria, 10-20 December 1958

Fifth — Teheran, Iran, 21 September — 1 October 1960 Sixth — Tel Amara, Lebanon, 30 July — 8 August 1962

Seventh - Cairo, Egypt, 19-31 October 1964

Eighth — Khartoum, Sudan, 24 January — 2 February 1967
Ninth — Baghdad, Iraq, 21 September — 1 October 1968
Tenth — Islamabad, Pakistan, 12-22 September 1970
Eleventh — Kuwait, Kuwait, 9-19 September 1972

Twelfth – Amman, Jordan, 31 August – 9 September 1974

Thirteenth – Tunis, Tunisia, 4-11 October 1976 Fourteenth – Damascus, Syria, 9-16 September 1978

Fifteenth - Rome, Italy, 21-25 April 1981

Sixteenth - Nicosia, Cyprus, 25-29 October 1982

#### REPORT

OF THE SIXTEENTH FAO REGIONAL CONFERENCE

FOR THE NEAR EAST

Nicosia, Cyprus, 25 - 29 October 1982

Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations  ${\tt Rome,\ 1982}$ 

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Pages
SUMMARY OF MAIN RECOMMENDATIONS	v - viii
INTRODUCTORY ITEMS	Paragraphs
Opening of the Conference	2
Election of the Chairman and Vice-Chairmen and Appointment of the Rapporteur	3 - 5
Adoption of the Agenda and Timetable	6
Statement by the Director-General	7 - 20
Statement by the Executive Director of the World Food Programme (WFP)	21
FAO Programme in the Region: Statement by the Regional Representative	
<ul> <li>Report on the FAO Activities in the Near East Region including Actions taken on the Main Recommendations made by the Fifteenth Regional Conference</li> </ul>	22 - 37
SELECTED ISSUES OF AGRICULTURAL AND RURAL DEVELOPMENT	
FAO Near East Government Cooperative Programme: Evaluation of Past Experience and Plans for the Future (Res. 1/82)	38 - 46
Near East Regional Commissions (Res. 2/82)	47 - 54
- Review of Performance and Proposals to Improve Effectiveness	
- Report on the Sessions Planned for the 1980-81 Biennium	
Follow-up of WCARRD Programme of Action and Progress made in the Establishment of the Regional Centre on Integrated Rural Development	55 - 64
Report on the Preparation of the FAO World Conference on Fisheries Management and Development	65 70
Representation of the Near East Region on the Consultative Group on International Agricultural Research (CGIAR)	71 - 73
CONCLUDING ITEMS	
The Near East Regional Office	74 - 78
Date and Place of the Seventeenth FAO Regional Conference for the Near East	79 - 80
Adoption of the Report	81
Closure of the Conference	82 - 85

#### APPENDICES

A - Agenda
B - List of Participants
C - List of Documents
D - Statement by the Director-General

#### SUMMARY OF MAIN RECOMMENDATIONS

#### A. FOR THE ATTENTION OF MEMBER COUNTRIES IN THE REGION

## 1. Situation of Food and Agriculture in the Region "Statement by the Director-General of FAO"

- 1.1. Importing countries in the Region were urged to avail themselves of the low cereal prices at present and increase their reserve stocks (para. 8).
- 1.2. Member countries were requested to double the present value of investment in agriculture and to increase investments over the next ten years in order to offset the increasing rate of inflation (para. 12).
- 1.3. Member countries were urged to pay more attention to agricultural research as being the cornerstone for viable investment and that a minimum 5 percent of all agricultural investment should be allocated for research (para. 13).

#### 2. FAO Programme in the Region

- 2.1. Member countries in the Region endowed with high potential for expansion of agriculture under rainfed conditions were urged to make full use of the Regional Study on Rainfed Agriculture, which has been completed and distributed to all countries in the Region (para. 25).
- 2.2. Member countries were requested to increase their technical and material support to the Regional Commission on Desert Locust Control in the Near East (para. 29).
- 2.3. Member countries were called upon to strengthen and improve their veterinary services and to apply strict veterinary and animal health control measures on animal trade across the borders (para. 30).
- 2.4. Member countries which have not yet indicated their wish to participate in the second phase of the Regional Project on Animal Production and Animal Health. were requested to do so as soon as possible and announce their financial contribution accordingly (para. 31).
- 2.5. Member countries were urged to fully utilize the excellent services at the FAO Investment Centre, in the identification of investment projects in the fields of food and agriculture (para. 35).

### 3. The FAO Near East Government Cooperative Programme (NECP)

3.1. Donor countries in the Region were urged to announce their pledges to the Second Phase of NECP, as soon as possible (Resolution 1/82, para. 46-I).

#### 4. Near East Regional Commissions

4.1. Member countries were called upon to cooperate with the FAO Secretariat in promoting the work of the Regional Commissions (Resolution 2/82, para. 54-II).

#### 5. Follow-up of WCARRD Programme of Action

- 5.1. Member countries were requested to continue their efforts towards improving the economic and social conditions of rural populations and to promote people's participation in all fields of rural development (para. 57).
- 5.2. Member countries were called upon to draw up policies and programmes which would provide the disadvantaged rural population with access to the necessary resources and to reform agricultural structures and land tenures and to encourage rural investments (para. 59).

- 5.3. Member countries were urged to expand their network of education, training and agricultural extension to improve the social and economic status of rural women, to give small farmers and farmers' organizations access to production inputs and services and to guarantee stable markets and fair prices for their products (para. 60).
- 5.4. Member countries were urged to ensure timely reporting to the next FAO Conference (1983) on progress achieved in their countries, to alleviate poverty of rural populations and to improve rural life (para. 61).

#### 6. The FAO World Conference on Fisheries Management and Development

6.1. Member countries of the Region should consider organizing a meeting, shortly before the holding of the technical phase of the Conference, to review matters of common interest and to harmonize national positions on technical issues and policies (para. 70).

#### 7. Representation of the Region on CGIAR

7.1. Representatives of the Region on CGIAR should participate fully in its sessions, to convey the views of member countries and to report on this to the FAO regional conferences, through the Regional Representative of FAO for the Near East (para. 73).

#### 8. The Regional Office for the Near East

8.1. Member countries were urged to take a clear and firm stand on the question of operating the Near East Regional Office from within the Region and to approach other FAO member countries in order to persuade them to accept their views and support a resolution at the next FAO Conference (1983) which would facilitate the reopening of RNEA in a country of the Region (paras. 74-78).

#### B. FOR THE ATTENTION OF FAO

#### 1. FAO Programme in the Region

- 1.1. FAO is requested to translate into Arabic the Regional Study dealing with the ecological assessment of areas with a high potential for the expansion of rainfed agriculture (para. 25).
- 1.2. FAO should exert every effort with donors to ensure the resumption of the Regional Project on Land and Water Use (Phase II) and strengthen cooperation between national and regional projects and the relevant FAO technical divisions, along the lines that used to exist between the Land and Water Use Project and the FAO Land and Water Development Division (para. 26).
- 1.3. FAO is urged to continue its contacts with IFAD and other donors in order to secure enough funds for Phase II of the Regional Project on the Improvement and Production of Field Food Crops. In the case that sufficient funds are not made available, FAO is requested to integrate Phases I and II into one project which could be financed and implemented through funds which some countries in the Region have provided for it (para. 28).
- 1.4. FAO is requested to give increasing attention to locust control activities in the Region (para. 29).
- 1.5. FAO is urged to give special attention to help establish an Association of Agricultural Research Institutions in the Near East and North Africa. It is also requested that the Arab CARIS Centre Project be implemented soon (para. 32).
- 1.6. FAO is urged to continue to support NENARACA within the means at its disposal (para. 33).

- 1.7. FAO is requested to increase TCP resources, now that it has proved its importance and effective response to urgent requests from developing countries (para. 36).
- 1.8. While appreciating the interest shown by the FAO Director-General in the recommendations of the Fifteenth Regional Conference for the Near East, and the action taken thereon, the Conference requested FAO to continue to report on action taken in response to recommendations issued by future sessions (para. 37).

#### 2. FAO Near East Government Cooperative Programme

- 2.1. The Conference requested the FAO Director-General to continue his contacts with the donor countries in the Region, in the manner he deems appropriate, in order to ascertain their intentions regarding their contributions towards the activities of the Second Phase of the Programme, and the funds they intend to commit for this Phase. To this end, the Director-General is requested, if deemed necessary, to convene a special pledging conference (para. 46, Resolution 1/82).
- 2.2. The Conference authorized the Director-General of FAO to utilize the unused pledges, the balances of executed projects and the accrued interests available from the First Phase of the Programme, to cover the deficit suffered by uncompleted national projects, or to utilize such cash in financing new projects in consultation with donor countries (para. 46, Resolution 1/82).

#### 3. Near East Regional Commissions

- 3.1. The Conference requested the Director-General of FAO to take the necessary steps to propose to the Council the establishment, under Article VI-I of the Constitution, of a new Regional Commission to be named "Near East Regional Commission on Agriculture", to take over the duties of the following Regional Commissions which are to be abolished:
  - Near East Animal Production and Health Commission
  - Near East Plant Protection Commission
  - Near East/North Africa Horticulture Production Commission.

The proposed Regional Commission on Agriculture will also assume the responsibilities and functions in other technical fields covered by the Agriculture Department of FAO, excluding those duties of the Land and Water Use Commission and the Commission for Controlling the Desert Locust (para. 54, Resolution 2/82).

- 3.2. The Conference requested the Director-General of FAO to take the necessary steps to propose to the Council the establishment, under Article VI-I of the Constitution, of a new Regional Commission to be named "Near East Regional Commission on Economic and Social Policy" to take over the duties of the following Regional Commissions which are to be abolished:
  - Near East Regional Food and Nutrition Commission
  - Near East Commission on Agricultural Planning
  - Near East Commission on Agricultural Statistics.

The proposed Regional Commission on Economic and Social Policy will also assume other responsibilities and functions in other technical fields covered by the Department of Economic and Social Policy in FAO (para. 54, Resolution 2/82).

3.3. The Conference recommended to the Director-General of FAO that the Commission on Land and Water Use in the Near East and the Regional Commission on Forestry should continue as at present under Article VI-I, while the Commission for Controlling the Desert Locust should continue according to the agreement concluded under Article 14 (para. 54, Resolution 2/82).

#### 4. Follow-up of WCARRD Programme of Action

4.1. The Conference invited FAO to continue its assistance to the countries in the Region through fielding various missions including high-level and technical ones (para. 58).

- 4.2. The Director-General of FAO is requested to obtain detailed information from the three countries offering to host the proposed Regional Centre for Integrated Rural Development (Egypt, Jordan and Somalia), regarding the premises, facilities and other means of support they are prepared to place at the disposal of the Centre, and to transmit this information to the Plenipotentiary Conference, in order to assist the latter in deciding where the Centre should be located (para. 63).
- 4.3. The Conference welcomed the invitation extended by the Jordanian Delegation to hold the Plenipotentiary Conference in Jordan, and requested the FAO Director-General to take the necessary measures to convene the Meeting during the first half of 1983, to conclude the agreement of the establishment of the Regional Centre for Integrated Rural Development (para. 64).

#### 5. The FAO World Conference on Fisheries Management and Development

- 5.1. The Conference strongly supported the FAO Director-General's decision to convene the FAO World Conference on Fisheries Management and Development, and to hold the Conference in two phases, a technical one in October 1983 and a high-level policy one in May 1984 (para. 66).
- 5.2. The Conference endorsed the broad objectives of the World Fisheries Conference and agreed that major ones should include the formulation of strategies and programmes to achieve optimum utilization of fishery resources, the attainment of higher economic and nutritional benefits from rationally managed fisheries, and the promotion of the self-reliance of developing countries (para. 67).
- 5.3. The Conference shared the view of the Director-General of FAO that while the World Fisheries Conference would provide a forum for the exchange of knowledge and experience, it should lead to a practical and concrete outcome (para. 69).

#### 6. Representation of the Region on the CGIAR

- 6.1. The Conference approved in principle the Director-General's proposal that the term of office of the two selected regional representatives should be a minimum of four years, with the possibility of a two-year extension for one of the representatives, in order to allow some overlap between the new and the outgoing representatives (para. 71).
- 6.2. The Conference decided to extend the term of office of the representative of Iraq and the Socialist People's Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, for a further period of two years, 1983-84 (para. 72).

#### 7. The Regional Office for the Near East

7.1. The Director-General of FAO was requested to take note of the recommendation urging countries of the Region to take a clear and firm stand and to approach FAO member countries, in order to persuade them to accept their views and make possible the issuance of a relevant resolution during the Twenty-second Session of the FAO Conference due to be held at FAO Headquarters in November 1983 (para. 78).

## 8. Date and Place of the Seventeenth Regional Conference for the Near East

8.1. The Director-General of FAO was requested to determine the date and place of the Seventeenth Regional Conference, after consultation with the Member Governments of the Region (para. 80).

#### INTRODUCTORY ITEMS

1. The Sixteenth FAO Regional Conference for the Near East was held in Nicosia from 25 to 29 October 1982.

#### Opening of the Conference

The Conference was opened by H.E. Spyros Kyprianou, President of the Republic of Cyprus, in the presence of the Director-General of FAO, Mr Edouard Saouma. Also present were the Heads of Delegations and Representatives of FAO Member Nations in the Region, as well as Observers from a number of other Member Nations and from regional and international governmental and non-governmental organizations and bodies. H.E. President Kyprianou delivered a statement in which he welcomed the FAO Director-General and all participating delegations. He underlined the importance of holding the Sixteenth FAO Regional Conference for the Near East at a time when much cooperation among the countries of the Region was badly needed in the various fields of agricultural development. H.E. President Kyprianou commended the major and effective role played by FAO in assisting developing countries all over the world in their efforts to eradicate hunger and malnutrition, and raise the standard of living of the rural population. In conclusion, the President referred to the valuable assistance which was being provided to his own country by FAO. He urged the countries of the Region to intensify their efforts in the field of food and agricultural production in order to secure the maximum degree of food security in all countries of the Region. He also called for closer cooperation and agricultural integration among these countries.

#### Election of the Chairman and Vice-Chairmen and Appointment of the Rapporteur

- 3. H.E. Dr Dimitrios Christodoulou, Minister of Agriculture and Natural Resources of the Republic of Cyprus, was unanimously elected Chairman by the Conference, and the Heads of Delegations of member countries were elected Vice-Chairman.
- 4. H.E. Dr Dimitrios Christodoulou expressed his thanks and appreciation for his election as Chairman of the Conference, and thanked the FAO Director-General for the efforts being exerted by the Organization in the field of agricultural development in the Region and for the close collaboration it had maintained with the countries of the Region. He wished the Conference every success, welcomed all delegations to Cyprus and stressed that his staff would dedicate themselves to facilitating the work of the Conference.
- 5. The Conference appointed Mr Amir Abdullah Khalil, Sudan, Rapporteur.

#### Adoption of the Agenda and Timetable

6. The Conference adopted the Provisional Agenda (Appendix A) as well as the Timetable, after introducing some amendments.

#### Statement by the Director-General

- 7. The Conference heard a statement by the Director-General of FAO (Appendix D), who expressed his thanks and appreciation to H.E. Mr Spyros Kyprianou, President of the Republic, for inaugurating the Conference, and to the Cyprus Government for hosting it. He also congratulated H.E. Dr Dimitrios Christodoulou, Minister of Agriculture and Natural Resources of Cyprus, on his unanimous election as Chairman, and wished him and the Vice-Chairman every success in directing its sessions. The Director-General then welcomed the Heads of Delegations and accompanying members.
- 8. The Director-General then reviewed the world food, agricultural and economic situation, noting that world agricultural production showed some progress in 1981/82 as the annual rate of growth amounted to 2.9 percent, whereas the rate of growth never exceeded 2.5 percent in the seventies. Regarding world cereal stocks, the Director-General remarked that these stocks rose from 231 million tons in 1981 to nearly 270 million tons in 1982 (equivalent to 18 percent of world annual consumption requirements). He urged importing countries to avail themselves of the low cereal prices and increase their cereal reserve stocks.

- 9. The Director-General warned that this rather optimistic view concealed other gloomy aspects of the world economic situation. Inflation and economic recession witnessed by the industrialized countries have been seriously affecting developing countries and this is manifested by various constraints to development such as high interest rates on loans, reduced development aid, increased debt burdens in non-oil exporting developing countries and the dependence of their economies on agricultural and raw material exports which suffer from instability, declining prices in international markets, and from the protectionist policies which reduce their export revenues. All these factors have contributed towards the serious deterioration of their trade with the developed countries and created difficulties in their balance of payments.
- 10. In reviewing the question of food aid and the International Emergency Food Reserve, the Director-General noted that the annual food aid target has not yet been achieved. The target has been set at 10 million tons of cereals since 1974, but this figure is now considered modest, and should be increased to nearly 18 million tons of cereals. However, the 1982/83 estimated target will not exceed 9 million tons. The figure for the International Emergency Food Reserve (IEFR) set at 500 000 tons annually since 1975 was achieved only this year, thanks to the generous contribution by the EEC which amounted to 100 000 tons of cereals, and to OPEC which contributed \$25 million for the years 1981 and 1982, in response to a proposal by the Director-General. The Director-General noted that the value of food aid granted during 1981/82 through the World Food Programme (WFP) and the International Emergency Food Reserve (IEFR) to some of the countries of the Region which suffered natural disasters like floods and drought or man-made disasters like wars, was more than US\$ 191 million.
- 11. The Director-General expressed his concern about the food and agriculture situation in the Near East Region. He explained that the rate of increase of agricultural production was 2.3 percent in 1980 and 1.9 percent in 1981, while the global rate of growth was around 2.9 percent. Taking into consideration the high rate of annual population growth this will mean a continuous decrease in per capita food production in the Near East area. The data available for 1982 harvests show that cereal production for this year will be below that of last year and that it would not exceed 1.6 percent. This discouraging situation will force most of the countries of the Region to import most of their cereal requirements from outside the Region, which will adversely affect their balance of payments.
- 12. The Director-General then referred to the unusual circumstances under which the Region now lived and which affect development efforts in one way or another. Wars in many parts of the Region destroy everything and huge amounts of funds are being spent or destructive hardware rather than on agricultural development and food production. In such circumstances, it is agriculture that suffers most.
- 13. The Director-General reviewed briefly the activities of FAO in the Region and drew attention to the fact that they had been accorded a separate item on the Agenda due to their crucial importance, and would be presented by the Assistant Director-General. He added that the Conference would note, in reviewing this Programme, that several important activities had been undertaken during the last biennium, and that FAO had responded to the recommendations of the previous Conference and has been implementing them. The Director-General emphasized that appropriate investments in agriculture, as well as an effective body for scientific and agricultural research, were an essential prerequisite for any increase in agricultural production. He stressed the need to double the present value of investments in agriculture and that governments should meet the increasing rates of inflation in the future through a corresponding increase in investments over a period of at least ten years, so that steady intensive investments might bear fruit. He noted that scientific and agricultural research in the Region was deteriorating rather than improving, and stressed that agricultural research was the cornerstone for viable investments. He underlined the fact that without an integrated body for research and development, productive investment would be a risky and fragile undertaking. He suggested, therefore, that governments should allocate a minimum of 5 percent of all agricultural investments in support of scientific research and development bodies and direct them towards effective participation in the process of agricultural development.

- 14. The Director-General informed the Conference of the activities carried out by FAO in the follow-up of the Plan of Action of the World Conference on Agrarian Reform and Rural Development, especially the recommendation of the Fifteenth Regional Conference concerning the establishment of a regional centre for integrated rural development for the Near East. He said that several important phases had been completed in this respect and that FAO was now arranging to convene a conference of plenipotentiaries, now that the draft agreement for the establishment of this centre had been well received by the governments of the Region.
- 15. The Director-General commended the success achieved by the Near East Cooperative Programme (NECP) and said that he considered it a fine example of serious work and fruitful cooperation between the countries of one region. He noted that FAO was able to carry out twenty national and seven regional or sub-regional projects in a number of countries in the Region, through NECP. He recalled that the majority of these projects were carried out according to their plans of action, and that all remaining projects would be implemented by the end of this year, by which time it would not be possible to continue with the Programme, because its financial resources would have been exhausted.
- 16. The Director-General recalled that the Conference had made recommendations at its Fourteenth and Fifteenth Sessions in favour of maintaining this Programme and appealed to donor countries to provide the necessary funds for a second cycle. He asserted that in view of the importance of this matter, the Cooperative Programme was accorded a separate item on the Agenda. He expressed the hope that the deliberations of the Conference would lead to the support and maintenance of the Programme.
- 17. Acting upon the recommendation of the previous conference, the Director-General said that the Secretariat had prepared an assessment of the Regional Commissions' activities. He added that the document would be presented to the Conference. He expressed the hope that the Conference would pay special attention to this item and that its recommendations would reflect the aims for which regional commissions were created.
- 18. The Director-General turned to the FAO World Conference on the Management and' Development of Fisheries to be held in 1984, and stressed the importance of that Conference to the countries of the Region. He said that a document concerning this Conference would be presented to this session and hoped that the latter would make appropriate recommendations or provide guidance which might contribute towards the success of the World Conference.
- 19. The Director-General stated that FAO had entered into agreements with several major regional governmental organizations such as the Arab League and its specialized agencies in the field of food and agriculture. The framework of such collaboration was under constant review in order to achieve more flexibility and to expand the scope of cooperation.
- 20. In closing, the Director-General referred to World Food Day, saying that the observance of this Day helped to remind each and every one, especially the rich whether individuals or countries that the mission of FAO was to liberate man from hunger and malnutrition. He added: "We must produce our food within our regions and rely on ourselves and our capacities". He assured the Conference that FAO was ready to place its capabilities at the disposal of the region and to collaborate with its governments in drawing up development programmes and projects.

## Statement by the Executive Director of the World Food Programme (WFP)

21. The Executive Director of WFP referred, in his statement, to the assistance which was and is still being provided by WFP to the countries of the Region. He praised the achievements of those countries in various fields of activity, notably in the agricultural sector through the optimal use of WFP assistance. The Executive Director also referred to the important role played by FAO in support of WFF activities.

#### FAO Programme in the Region: Statement by the Regional Representative

- Report on the FAO Activities in the Near East Region including Actions taken on the Main Recommendations made by the Fifteenth Regional Conference (Document NERC/82/2)
- 22. The Conference noted with satisfaction that the Near East Regional Office (RNEA) continued to serve the interests and needs of the countries of the Region in accordance with the overall priorities proposed by the Director-General and endorsed by the Twenty-first FAO Conference (November 1981).
- 23. The Conference commended the programme increase to the Regular Programme of Work and Budget for the Near East for 1982/83, and expressed its hope that this increase in figures would be translated into activities that were useful to the Region.
- 24. The Conference expressed its concern over the expected shortage in the extra-budgetary resources, especially from the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP). It hoped that affluent countries inside and outside the Region would take the initiative to forestall such a shortage by increasing their contributions to international development programmes, trust fund arrangements, and through NECP.
- 25. The Conference regarded the completion of the regional study dealing with the ecological assessment of areas with high potential for expansion of agricultural production under rainfed conditions as an outstanding achievement. It urged the countries of the Region which are endowed with such potential to make the maximum use of the findings of this study, which specifies ways and means of increasing and improving the productivity of rainfed agriculture, and requested the translation of this study into Arabic.
- 26. The Conference expressed its satisfaction at the cooperation which exists between the Regional Project on Land and Water Use and the FAO Land and Water Division in all fields, including the organization of regional and national training courses on improved irrigation techniques, water consumptive use of crops, land reclamation and prognosis of salt-affected soils. The Conference urged such cooperation between national and regional field projects on the one hand and the relevant FAO technical divisions on the other. The Conference requested that FAO exert every effort with donors to ensure the resumption of this project.
- 27. The Conference commended the FAO Seed Review which was conducted in several countries of the Region in order to update information on cultivar improvement, evaluation and release, seed quality control, production, marketing and promotion.
- 28. The Conference urged FAO to keep up its contacts with the International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD) and other donors in order to secure enough funds for Phase II of the Regional Project on the Improvement and Production of Field Food Crops which was adopted by the Fifteenth FAO Regional Conference for the Near East (Rome, April 1981). In case enough funds were not made available for the implementation of Phase II, Phase I of the original project should be reformulated as a single integrated project which could be easily financed and implemented through funds provided for the project by countries in the Region.
- 29. The Conference noted that FAO's continuous support of the activities of the Commission for Controlling the Desert Locust in the Near East helped to achieve great success in monitoring and controlling locusts. It hoped that FAO will give increasing attention to locust control activities in the Region. It urged the countries of the Region which are members of the said Commission to continue to extend material and technical support for control activities within the framework of the Commission.
- 30. The Conference urged member countries to apply strict veterinary and animal health control measures on animal trade and drew attention to the importance of providing adequate veterinary services at country level. It called upon Member States to coordinate intercountry action to arrest the spread of disease and epizootics across borders.

- 31. The Conference noted the availability of funds for the second phase of the Regional Animal Production and Health Project, which will begin in 1983. While welcoming this information, which underlined the importance of coordinated joint action in this field in the Near East Region, the Conference urged Member Nations which have not yet announced their desire to participate in the second phase of the project to do so as soon as possible and to announce their financial contributions as well.
- 32. The Conference welcomed the intention to hold a Technical Consultation on strengthening cooperation in agricultural research in the Near East. It also welcomed the proposal to establish an association for agricultural research institutions in the Near East and North Africa, and urged FAC to give special attention to help establish this association. It also expressed particular interest in the "Arab CARIS Centre" project and requested that it be implemented soon.
- 33. The Conference commended the increasing activities of the Near East/North Africa Regional Agricultural Credit Association (NENARACA), whose headquarters are in Amman, in various fields such as arranging seminars, symposia and training courses as well as issuing information bulletins about the activities of the Association, etc. It commended both the technical and material support which had been provided by FAO to the Association since its inception, and urged FAO to continue that support within the means at its disposal.
- 34. The Conference commended the activities of the FAO Investment Centre related to the identification or preparation of development projects in a number of countries in the Region. It called upon the countries of the Region to utilize the skills and capabilities of the Centre in this respect.
- 35. The Conference also appreciated the interest shown by the Investment Centre in the follow-up of UNDP projects executed by FAO which are considered to have investment potential. The objective is to ensure that such projects reach the feasibility stage and attract investment from financing institutions.
- 36. The document referred to many other activities undertaken by FAO on regional and sub-regional levels and which covered several fields. In this respect, the Conference expressed its appreciation for the efforts exerted by FAO in the Region, and called upon it to increase these efforts. It made a special reference to FAO/TCP and requested that its resources be increased now that it had proved its importance and effective response to urgent requests from developing countries.
- 37. While reviewing the action of FAO on the recommendations of the Fifteenth Regional Conference for the Near East (Rome, April 1981), the Conference noted that all these recommendations had actually been implemented or had reached the last stages of implementation. The Conference appreciated the great interest shown by the Director-General in these recommendations. It noted that this interest had an impact on their rapid implementation by the appropriate units in the Organization. It requested FAO to continue reporting on action taken in response to recommendations made by Near East Regional Conferences.

#### SELECTED ISSUES OF AGRICULTURAL AND RURAL DEVELOPMENT

## FAO Near East Government Cooperative Programme: Evaluation of Past Experience and Plans for the Future

- 38. The Conference took note of document NERC/82/3 on the NECP which was prepared in accordance with a recommendation made by the Fifteenth FAO Regional Conference for the Near East, in order to review and evaluate the NECP's progress and achievements as well as the impact of its current activities. The document showed that NECP projects were grouped under four main objectives: promoting food production, conducting pre-investment studies, strengthening national institutions, and training. In this document, an analysis of results of the first cycle of the Programme, both positive and negative, was discussed, and the action taken to implement Resolution 81/4 adopted by the Fifteenth FAO Regional Conference for the Near East was reviewed.
- 39. The Conference expressed its satisfaction that regional and national projects financed by NECP had been executed according to plan and, in this respect, a number of delegates noted that mistakes or difficulties confronted should be taken as expected, natural and acceptable occurrences during the execution of some of these projects particularly since the Programme, itself, was a new experience to both the donor and recipient countries in the Region.
- 40. The Conference took note of the conditions and circumstances that prevailed during the establishment of the Ministerial Committee which the Fifteenth FAO Regional Conference for the Near East had recommended the Director-General to establish with the aim of undertaking contacts and visits to donor countries in the Region to ascertain their long-term pledges for the Second Phase of the NECP.
- 41. The Conference expressed its regrets for the failure to establish the proposed Committee and commended both the Director-General of FAO and the Minister of Trade and Agriculture, State of Bahrain, who was to lead the proposed Committee, on their efforts in this respect. The Conference also expressed the hope that the absence of such a Ministerial Committee should not be an obstacle to resuming contacts with the donor countries in the Region in any appropriate manner.
- 42. Some delegates proposed the establishment of a joint Technical Committee from the donor and recipient countries to evaluate the NECP and formulate regional and national projects for the Second Phase, and to undertake contacts with the donor countries accordingly.
- 43. The FAO Regional Representative for the Near East explained to the Conference that the document submitted to the Conference on this subject in its current session is, in itself, an evaluation of the previous phase of the Programme and that interim evaluations had also been undertaken in the past and discussed during the Fourteenth and Fifteenth Regional Conferences for the Near East. Hence, there is no apparent need for the establishment of a special committee to undertake a new evaluation. He also explained that FAO had already prepared and formulated a number of regional and national projects in consultation with the recipient countries in the Region and at their request; and that these projects are ready for execution provided necessary funds were available and, therefore, to prevent duplication and repetition, there is no need for the preparation of new projects lists. The FAO Regional Representative pointed out that the Conference may wish to authorize the Director-General to conduct contacts to this end with the donor countries in the Region in the manner he deems appropriate.
- 44. The Conference endorsed the above proposal of the FAO Regional Representative, and some delegates suggested that one way the Director-General might proceed in his contacts with the donor countries could be through convening a special pledging conference.
- 45. The Conference discussed the proposal submitted by the Secretariat of FAO to authorize the Director-General to utilize unobligated balances of NECP. The balances remaining in terminated national and regional projects and the accrued interests available for the Programme could be used either to cover the deficit of national projects uncompleted due to insufficient funds having been allocated in the original individual plans of operation, or to finance new projects in consultation with donor countries.

46. In the light of the above the Conference adopted the following resolution:

#### RESOLUTION 1/82

#### FAO Near East Cooperative Programme (NECP)

#### The Regional Conference

Having heard the review and evaluation of the activities and achievements of the first phase of NECP;

Reaffirming its appreciation and gratitude to donor countries in the Region which had provided the necessary funds for the implementation of country and regional projects in different countries of the Region during the First Phase of the Programme;

Expressing its satisfaction with the manner in which FAO had implemented the projects of the First Phase of the Programme;

Recalling that the Fourteenth and Fifteenth Regional Conferences for the Near East had expressed their hope that generous contributions would continue to be made, in order to enable the Programme to carry out the projects to be included in its Second Phase;

Commending the efforts of the Director-General in this respect;

#### Recommends that:

- 1. The donor countries of the Region announce their pledges to the Second Phase of the Programme as soon as possible;
- 2. The Director-General continue his contacts with the donor countries in the Region, in the manner he deems appropriate, in order to ascertain their intentions regarding their contributions towards the activities of the Second Phase of the Programme, and the funds they intend to commit for this phase;
- 3. The Director-General of FAO be authorized to utilize the unused pledges, the balance of funds allocated to projects that had been executed and accrued interest available from the First Phase of the Programme, to cover the shortfall in funds available to finance certain country projects that were currently operational or to utilize such funds to finance new projects, in consultation with donor countries.

#### Near East Regional Commissions:

- Review of Performance and Proposals to Improve Effectiveness
- Report on the Sessions planned for the 1980-81 Biennium
- 47. The Conference discussed document NERC 82/4 and reviewed the performance of the Near East Regional Commissions since their inception. The Conference noted, in particular, that many of these Commissions had fallen short of their objectives for the reasons outlined in the document.
- 48. The Conference took note of the reasons for the exclusion by FAO Secretariat of the Mear East Forestry Commission and the Commission for Controlling the Desert Locust from the proposed merges.
- 49. The Conference endorsed the FAO proposal to retain the two Commissions, by virtue of the special functions of the Forestry Commission and the executive functions of the Commission for Controlling Desert Locust, as separate independent Commissions from the proposed new Regional Commissions. In this respect some delegates proposed to merge the Forestry Commission in the proposed Regional Commission on Agriculture. The majority, however, did not endorse the proposal.

- 50. As to the proposal to establish two new Regional Commissions to encompass a number of the present Regional Commissions, the Conference endorsed an amended proposal to continue, for the present, the Near East Land and Water Commission partly due to its importance and partly because the Secretariat document confirmed the interest shown by the countries in the Region in the functions of the Commission since its inception as evidenced by attendance in its sessions.
- 51. A large number of delegates noted that the establishment of the two new Regional Commissions opens up new fields of activities not previously covered by existing Regional Commissions, such as mechanized agriculture, agro-industries, agricultural marketing and credit, field food crops, food security, integrated rural development and follow-up of the WCARRD Programme of Action, etc.
- 52. Some delegates suggested that it would be better to establish the new Commissions under Article XIV of the Constitution rather than Article VI-1, in order to enhance their power in the implementation of various recommendations. The majority, however, noting that the functions of the Commissions remain advisory and not executive, proposed to establish them under Article VI-1.
- 53. As to the establishment of the Near East Commission on Fisheries, the Conference decided to postpone discussion of the matter since Member countries in the Region are, presently serviced by similar regional bodies.
- 54. The Conference took note of the recommendations of the Seventh Session of the Near East Plant Protection Commission (Rome, 31 August 4 September 1981); it endorsed the recommendations and requested the Director-General to take them into consideration.

The Conference adopted the following resolution:

#### RESOLUTION 2/82

#### Near East Regional Commissions

#### The Regional Conference

Having taken note of document NERC/82/4 relating to the performance of regional commissions established for the Near East, and containing a review of the constraints which had prevented some of these commissions from fully achieving their objectives;

Recalling the recommendations of the Thirteenth, Fourteenth and Fifteenth Regional Conferences for the Near East regarding these commissions;

Having considered the proposals set forth in document NERC/82/4 which were designed to activate and enhance the effectiveness of these regional commissions in the future;

Expressing its firm conviction that such regional commissions constitute one of the main channels through which the countries of the Region can communicate their views, recommendations and proposals to the Director-General and to the governing bodies of the Organization and draw attention to high priority problems related to agricultural development and food production in the Region;

Noting that such commissions constitute an effective channel through which the results of successful experiments in other regions can be conveyed to the Near East Region;

Re-affirming the significant role played by regional commissions as important fora for the exchange of technical experience and information among countries of the Region, and

Considering, therefore, that it is necessary for measures to be adopted to promote and enhance the effectiveness of such regional commissions by re-structuring certain extant ones;

#### Recommends that:

Ι

- 1. (a) The Director-General take the necessary steps to propose to the Council that it establish, under Article VI.1 of the Constitution, a new regional commission to be known as the "Near East Regional Commission on Agriculture", which would assume the functions of the following regional commissions which would be abolished:
  - Animal Production and Health Commission in the Near East
  - Near East Plant Protection Commission
  - Commission on Horticultural Production in the Near East and North Africa.
  - (b) In addition to the above functions, the proposed Near East Regional Commission on Agriculture should carry out functions in areas corresponding to those covered by the Agriculture Department of FAO, with the exception of those areas which fall within the terms of reference of other Commissions, namely the Regional Commission on Land and Water Use in the Near East and the Commission for Controlling the Desert Locust in the Near East.
- 2. (a) The Director-General take the necessary steps to propose to the Council that it establish, under Article VI.1 of the Constitution, a new regional commission to be known as the "Near East Regional Economic and Social Policy Commission", which would assume the functions of the following regional commissions which would be abolished:
  - Regional Food and Nutrition Commission for the Near East
  - Near East Commission on Agricultural Planning
  - Near East Commission on Agricultural Statistics
  - (b) In addition to the above functions, the proposed Near East Regional Economic and Social Policy Commission should carry out functions in areas corresponding to those covered by the Economic and Social Policy Department of FAO.
- 3. The Regional Commission on Land and Water Use in the Near East and the Near East Forestry Commission should continue to operate under Article VI.1 of the Constitution, and the Commission for Controlling the Desert Locust in the Near East should continue to carry out its functions in accordance with the Agreement concluded under Article XIV of the Constitution by which it was established.

II

Calls upon the countries in the Region to cooperate with the Secretariat of the Organization, in promoting the work of the regional commissions and in strengthening the links between the Secretariat and the regional commissions, since such cooperation would redound to the benefit of those countries.

## Follow-up of WCARRD Programme of Action and Progress made in the Establishment of the Regional Centre on Integrated Rural Development

- 55. The Conference took note of the progress achieved by FAO in its support of the follow-up activities to the WCARRD Programme of Action, especially the progress made in the establishment of a Regional Centre on Integrated Rural Development for the Near East as reported in document NERC/82/5.
- 56. The Conference commended FAO's support at both country and regional levels for the implementation of the Recommendations of the Fifteenth Regional Conference concerning rural development, as well as FAO's assistance to countries of the Region in this field or in the formulation, planning and implementation of agricultural reform and rural development policies and programmes, in addition to assistance in support of people's participation including women in the development process.

- 57. The Conference urged all countries in the Region to continue their efforts towards improving the economic and social conditions of rural populations, and to promote people's participation in production activities especially among the disadvantaged groups. It considered people's participation one of the basic prerequisites for rural development.
- 58. The Conference invited FAO to maintain its assistance to the countries in the Region through fielding various missions, including high-level and specialized technical ones.
- 59. The Conference underlined the importance of drawing up policies and programmes which provide the disadvantaged rural population with access to the necessary resources; and help to reform agricultural structures and land tenure systems, encourage rural investment and streamline programmes at the national level.
- 60. Countries of the Region were urged to expand their network of education, training and agricultural extension, to improve the social and economic status of rural women, to give small landholders and farmers' institutions access to production inputs and services, and to guarantee stable markets and fair prices for their products.
- 61. The Conference acknowledged FAO's efforts towards helping the governments of the Region to set up an appropriate mechanism for monitoring the progress achieved in alleviating rural hunger, and in reporting their progress to the FAO Conference (1983) in accordance with the recommendations of WCARRD. It also urged Member Nations to ensure timely reporting.
- 62. The Conference welcomed the progress made towards the establishment of a Regional Centre on Integrated Rural Development for the Near East and in particular the formulation of a draft agreement on the establishment of this Centre with a view to enhancing regional cooperation. Some delegates suggested that the proposed centre be called Regional Centre for Agrarian Reform and Rural Development. The Conference, however, deferred any decision on that matter to the forthcoming Conference of Plenipotentiaries.
- 63. The Regional Conference noted that three Governments Egypt, Jordan and Somalia have reiterated their desire to act as host to the proposed Regional Centre. In this connection, the Regional Conference invited the Director-General to obtain detailed information from the three Governments concerned regarding the premises, facilities and other means of support that they are prepared to place at the disposal of the Regional Centre and to transmit this information to the Plenipotentiary Conference in order to assist the latter in deciding where the Regional Centre should be located.
- 64. The Conference approved the following:
  - a. To reaffirm its support of the FAO Programme on the follow-up of WCARRD and to expand its activities and maintain its priority in the Region.
  - b. To follow up efforts to accelerate the establishment of the Regional Centre for Integrated Rural Development.
  - c. The Conference welcomed the invitation by Jordan to host the Conference of Plenipotentiaries and requested the Director-General of FAO to convene the said Conference during the first half of 1983 to sign the agreement of the Centre.

## Report on the Preparation of the FAO World Conference on Fisheries Management and Development

- 65. The Conference considered this item on the basis of document NERC/82/6 and of the additional information provided by the Secretariat on the discussions already held on the same subject by the Regional Conferences for Asia and the Pacific, Latin America, Africa and Europe.
- 66. The Conference expressed its strong support for the convening by the Director-General of the FAO World Conference on Fisheries Management and Development, and for the holding of the Conference in two phases: a technical one in October 1983 and a high-level policy

one in May 1984. It considered that the World Fisheries Conference would be timely in view of the fundamental changes in the regime of the oceans with regard to fisheries, as embodied in the Convention on the Law of the Sea adopted in April 1982. At the same time, the Conference emphasized that the World Fisheries Conference should not only play an essential role in the practical implementation of the new regime, but also cover the problems and prospects of inland fisheries and aquaculture.

- 67. The Conference endorsed the broad objectives of the World Fisheries Conference as outlined in document NERC/82/6. It agreed that major ones should include the formulation of strategies and programmes to achieve optimum utilization of fishery resources, the attainment of higher economic, social and nutritional benefits from rationally managed fisheries and the promotion of the self-reliance of developing countries. In this connection, it stressed the need for international cooperation among developing countries, particularly at regional level, and also between developed and developing countries.
- 68. The Conference reviewed the items and issues which should receive priority attention in the light of the recommendations already made by the other Regional Conferences. It laid particular emphasis on stock assessment, the improvement of artisanal and coastal fisheries, the conditions of access to fishery resources in Exclusive Economic Zones including the role of joint ventures and bilateral agreements, the institutional aspects of the management of shared stocks at sub-regional or regional level, and the handling, processing and marketing of fish and fishery products. The suggestion was also made that serious consideration should be given to the establishment of large joint ventures, including a joint fleet, among the countries of the region.
- 69. The Conference shared the view of the Director-General that while the World Fisheries Conference would provide a forum for the exchange of knowledge and experience, it should lead to practical and concrete results. To this end, the World Fisheries Conference could formulate a fishery management and development strategy at national, regional and world levels, as well as elaborate an extensive training programme aimed at promoting the self-reliance of developing countries. Such a programme would require the active participation and support of bilateral and multilateral donor or financing agencies.
- 70. It was suggested that the countries of the Region should consider organizing a meeting shortly before the holding of the technical phase of the World Fisheries Conference, so as to review and harmonize national positions on technical issues.

## Representation of the Near East Region on the Consultative Group on International Agricultural Research (CGIAR)

- 71. The Conference considered document NERC/82/7 and approved in principle, the Director-General's proposal that the term of office of the two selected regional representatives should be a minimum of four years, with the possibility of a two-year extension for one of the representatives in order to allow some overlap between the new and the outgoing representatives.
- 72. The Conference decided to extend the term of office of the representatives of the Republic of Iraq and The Socialist People's Libyan Arab Jamahiriya for a further period of two years (1983-84).
- 73. The Conference emphasized once again that the representatives of the Region should participate fully in the meetings of the Group, to convey the views of the member countries of the Region and to ensure proper feedback by circulating to them a report on each meeting of the CGIAR attended. In this connection, the regional representatives should take full advantage of the facilities and assistance provided by the Near East Regional Office and/or FAO Headquarters. The Conference decided that it shall have the right, in the forthcoming session, to terminate the membership of any representative who fails, for one reason or another, to participate in the activities of the group for two successive sessions, and the election of a replacement to the membership of the group.

#### The Near East Regional Office

#### CONCLUDING ITEMS

- 74. The Conference noted that the purpose of setting up FAO Regional Offices to operate from within the regions was to emphasize the need and importance of firmly establishing the concept of cooperation and coordination between the countries of the region concerned in all fields related to agricultural and rural development as well as food production.
- 75. The Conference also noted that the fact that these Offices perform their duties from within the Region reflects one aspect of the decentralization policy followed by FAO in the last few years and is a logical result of this policy.
- 76. The Conference also noted that it was abnormal and unusual for the Near East Regional Office to continue performing its duties from outside the Region following a Resolution adopted by the Twentieth FAO Conference (Rome, November 1979).
- 77. The Conference therefore emphasized the importance of reopening the Regional Office as soon as possible in one of the countries of the Region.
- 78. However, in view of the fact that such a decision falls exclusively within the competence of the FAO Conference, the Sixteenth FAO Conference for the Near East urged the countries of the Region to take a clear and firm stand on this matter and to approach other FAO member countries through the channels they deem appropriate in order to persuade them to accept their views and make possible the issuance of a relevant Resolution during the Twenty-second Session of the FAO Conference due to be held at FAO Headquarters in November 1983.

#### Date and Place of the Seventeenth FAO Regional Conference for the Near East

- 79. The Head of the delegation of the People's Democratic Republic of Yemen expressed the desire of his country to host the Seventeenth Regional Conference. The Conference welcomed this kind invitation. The Conference was informed that the Secretariat had received a telegram from the Kingdom of Morocco also offering to host the Conference.
- 80. The date and place of the Seventeenth Conference will be determined after consultation between the Director-General and the governments of the two countries concerned.

#### Adoption of the Report

81. The Conference adopted the present Report after minor modifications.

#### Closure of the Conference

- 82. His Excellency Dimitrios Christodoulou, Conference Chairman, in his address, thanked the Director-General and the Regional Representative for the Near East, and commended the Conference Secretariat on their efforts to ensure the smooth running and success of the Conference. He also thanked all participant delegations and expressed the wish that they will continue their efforts within their countries for continued cooperation between the countries of the Region for the development of the agricultural sector, and the betterment of the lives of their people. The Conference Chairman also expressed gratitude to all those who contributed to the success of the Conference by preparing its documents and facilitating its work.
- 83. The Conference Chairman was followed by some Heads of Delegations and Observers who expressed their appreciation to the Republic of Cyprus for hosting the Conference, the facilities provided and its hospitality. They commended, in particular, the increasing interest shown by the Director-General in the Region, and commended the Conference Secretariat for its efforts in preparing the documents and facilitating its work.
- 84. The Regional Representative for the Near East in his address thanked the Conference Chairman and his Deputies for their valuable efforts in steering the meetings of the Conference, thanked delegates of member countries for their constructive discussions and proposals, and observers from other countries and organizations for their attendance and participation. He expressed special gratitude to the Government of the Republic of Cyprus for hosting the Conference and commended the National Preparatory Committee for their great efforts, and all others who, directly or indirectly, contributed to its success.
- 85. The Conference Chairman announced the Conference terminated at 18.00 hours on Friday 29 October 1982.

#### **AGENDA**

#### I. INTRODUCTORY ITEMS

- 1. Opening of the Conference
- 2. Election of the Chairman and Vice-Chairmen and appointment of the Rapporteur
- 3. Adoption of the Agenda and Timetable

#### II. STATEMENT BY THE DIRECTOR-GENERAL

#### III. OTHER STATEMENTS

- 1. Statement by the Executive Director of WFP
- 2. Country Statements and General Debate on the Food and Agriculture Situation in the Near East

#### IV. FAO PROGRAMME IN THE REGION: STATEMENT BY THE REGIONAL REPRESENTATIVE

- 1. Report on the FAO Activities in the Region including Action Taken on the Main Recommendations made by the Fifteenth Regional Conference
- 2. FAO Programme of Work for 1982-83

#### V. SELECTED ISSUES OF AGRICULTURAL AND RURAL DEVELOPMENT

- 1. FAO Near East Government Cooperative Programme; Evaluation of Past Experience and Plans for the Future.
- 2. Near East Regional Commissions:
  - Part I: Review of performance and proposals to improve effectiveness
  - Part II: Report on the sessions planned for 1980-81 biennium
- 3. Follow-up of WCARRD Programme of Action and Progress made in the Establishment of the Regional Centre for Integrated Rural Development
- 4. Report on the Preparation of the FAO World Conference on Fisheries Management and Development
- 5. Representation of the Region on the Consultative Group on International Agricultural Research (CGIAR)

#### VI. CONCLUDING ITEMS

- 1. Any other business
- 2. Date and Place of the Seventeenth FAO Regional Conference for the Near East
- Adoption of the Report
- 4. Closure of the Conference

Nicosta

Cairo

محم*د* م • د سوقی

#### قائمة المشترئ

#### LIST OF PARTICIPANTS LISTE DES PARTICIPANTS

Chairman/Président Rapporteur

Dimitrios CHRISTODOULOU (Cyprus) Amir Abdullah KHALIL (Sudan)

### البلدان الأعضاء في الاقلس

MEMBER NATIONS IN THE REGION PAYS MEMBRES DE LA REGION AFGHANISTAN افغانستان Vlassios KRENTOS Delegate H.E. A.G. LAKANWAL Kabul Minister of Agriculture and Land Reform Kyriacos POLYDOROU Ministry of Agriculture and Land Reform Alternate Jan MOHAMMAD Kabul Renos J. LIVADAS Vice-President, Extension and Production BAHRAIN - BAHREIN البحرين Delegate George KAROUZIS H.E. Habib Ahmed KASSIM Manama Minister of Commerce and Agriculture George ZACHARIA حبيب أحمد قاسم وزير التجارة والزراعة Advisers Costas PHOCAS Alternates Siddiq S. AL-ALAWI Manama Director of Agriculture Ministry of Commerce and Agriculture وزارة التجارة والزراعة ــ المنامة Hassan Mohamed ABDUL KARIM Manama In-Charge of Agricultural Extension Ministry of Commerce and Agriculture حسن محمد عبد الكريم مسوقول الأرشاد الزراعـ George CAMELARIS Agricultural Officer Hamad Ali AL-SHEHABI Secretary to Minister Haris ZANNETIS Ministry of Commerce and Agriculture Agriculture George VYRIDES CYPRUS - CHYPRE Delegate Costas APOSTOLIDES H.E. Dimitrios CHRISTODOULOU Nicosia Minister of Agriculture and Natural Resources Alternates DJIBOUTI Andreas PAPASOLOMONTOS Nicosia EGYPT - EGYPTE Director-General Ministry of Agricultural and Natural Resources Delegate Photis G. POULIDES Mohamed M. DESSOUKI Rome Ambassador of Cyprus to FAO Administrator, Central Administration for Foreign Agricultural Relations George F. POULIDES Rome Alternate Permanent Representative of رثيس الأدارة المركزية للعلاقات الخارجية Cyprus to FAO وزارة الزراعة \_ القاه\_\_\_رة Associates Avraam LOUCA Nicosia Director, Department of Agriculture

Ministry of Agriculture and Natural Resources

Director, Agricultural Research Institute Ministry of Agriculture and Natural Resources Nicosia Director, Department Veterinary Services Ministry of Agriculture and Natural Resources Fisheries Officer, Department of Fisheries Ministry of Agriculture and Natural Resources Nicosia Head, Land Consolidation Authority Nicosia Director, Agricultural Insurance Organization Nicosia Senior Agricultural Officer Ministry of Agricultural and Natural Resources Panayiotis ARISTOTELOUS Senior Agricultural Officer, Department of Agriculture (Agric. Economic Ministry of Agriculture and Natural Resources) . Stelios PAPACHRISTODOULOU Nicosia Agricultural Research Officer, Agricultural Research Institute Ministry of Agriculture and Natural Resources Ministry of Agriculture and Natural Resources Nicosia Agricultural Officer, Department of Ministry of Agriculture and Natural Resources Nicosia Attaché, Ministry of Foreign Affairs Nicosia Planning Officer, Planning Bureau جييوت

JORDAN - JORDANIE

Alternate

```
الأردن
                                                           روم
    Youssef Ali HAMDI
                                                          Rome
                                                                  Delegate
    Agricultural Counsellor, Egyptian Embassy
                                                                     H.E. Marwan DUDIN
                                                                                                                        Amman
                   يوسف على حمد ى
المستشار الزراعي بالسفارة المصرية
                                                                     Minister of Agriculture
                                                                     Ministry of Agriculture
                                                                                                       مروان دودين
                                     جمهورية ايرانالا سلامية
 IRAN, ISLAMIC REPUBLIC OF
 IRAN, REPUBLIQUE ISLAMIQUE D'
                                                                  Alternate
 Delegate
                                                                     Hassan NABULSI
                                                                                                                        Amman
   H.E. Mohamad SALAMATI
                                                     Teheran
                                                                     Director-General, Cooperatives Organizations
   Minister of Agriculture and Rural Development
                                                                            مست بابلسي
المدير العام لمومسة الاقراض الزراعي
المدير العام لمومسة الاقراض الزراعي
   Hassan TOUFIGHT
   Director-General of International
                                                                  Associate
   Relations Department
                                                                     Sami SUNA
                                                                                                                        Amman
   Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Development
                                                                     Director-General
                                                                     Agriculture Credit Corporation
   Ali AHOONMANESH
                                                     Teheran
                                                                                    سامى جاد الله الصناع
المديو الحام لمو<sup>م</sup>ستة الاقراض
الزراعي ــ عمـــان
   Deputy Minister
   Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Development
 Associates
   Kazem DAMANABI
                                                                  Adviser
                                                     Teheran
   Director-General of Agriculture in
                                                                    Hassan HAMMAD
                                                                                                                        Amman
   Tabriz Province
                                                                     Head of International Relations Division
   Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Development
                                                                     Ministry of Agriculture
                                                                        حسن حماد
رئيس قسم العلاقات الدولية بوزارة الزراعة
عمان
   Mohamad Taghi RANJBAR
   Member of Agricultural Commission
   Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Development
                                                                  KUWAIT - KOWEIT
                                                                                                                       الكويت
 IRAO
                                                 العيراق
                                                                  LEBANON - LIBAN
                                                                                                                      لبنيان
Delegate
                                                     Baghdad
   H.E. Siddik Abdel Latif YOUNES
                                                                  Délégué
   Minister of Agriculture and Agrarian Reform
                                                                    Sélim MAKAREM
                                                                                                                    Beyrouth
                              صديق عبد اللطيف يونس
وزير الزراعة والاصلاح الزراعي
                                                                    Directeur général p.i.
                                                                    Ministère de l'agriculture
Alternates
   Mustafa HAMDOON
   Ambassador of Iraq to FAO
         مصطفى حمد ون
ممثل العراق الدائم لدى منظمة الأغذية والزراعة
                                                                 <u>Suppléants</u>
                                                                    Rashid EDRISS
                                                                                                                    Beirouth
                                                                    Directeur général
Shaker SABER
Adviser to Minister of Agriculture
شائر صابـــر
مستشار لد ی وزیر الزراعة
بغداد
                                                                    Office de la production animale
                                                     Baghdad
                                                                       رشيد ادريس
مدير عام مكتب الانتاج الحيواني ببيروت
                                                                    Raymond RAPHAEL
                                                                                                                    Beyrouth
                                                                    Directeur général, Office fruitièr
Associates
                                                                                           ريمون رفايل
مدير عام مكتب الفاكهة
بيروت
   Husam IBRAHIM
                                                     Baghdad
   Foreign Relations Section, Ministry of
  Agriculture and Agrarian Reform
                                                                   Samir ABOU-JAOUDER
Directeur, Projet de développement
Montagne libanaise, Plan Vert
مدير مشروع التعمية الريفية المتاملة
المشروع الأخضـــر
                           حسام ابراهيم
قسم العلاقات الخارجية
وزارة الزراعة والاصلاح الزراعي
                                                                                                                   Beyrouth
                                                                    Directeur, Projet de développement de la
  Hussein Alwan OBEID
  Foreign Relations Service
  Ministry of Agriculture and Agrarian Reform
                           حسين علوان عبيد
قسم العلاقات الخارجية
وزارة الزراعة والا صلاح الزراعي
بغد اد
                                                                     الجما هيرية العربية اللييية الشعبية الاشتراكي
                                                                 SOCIALIST PEOPLE'S LIBYAN ARAB JAMAHIRIYA
                                                                 JAMAHIRIYA ARABE LIBYENNE POPULAIRE ET SOCIALISTE
Adviser
  Salamah IBRAHIM
                                                                 Delegate
  Consultant to the Ministry of Agriculture
                                                                   H.E. Beshir GODAH
                                                                                                                    Tripoli
                                                                   Secretary of Agricultural Commission
                                   سلامة ابراهيم
مستشار بوزارة الزراعة
بغداد
                                                                   in Eastern Region
                                                          أمين اللّجنة الزراعية
المنطقة السرقيـــة / أمانة الاستصلاح الزراعي
وتعمير الأراضي ــطرابلس
```

```
Alternates
   Mohamed Sidky ZEHNI
                                                                                               المطد العربية السعودية
                                                           Rome
   Permanent Representative of Libya to FAO
                                                                   SAUDI ARABIA (KINGDOM OF)
           محمد صدق نصلي محمد صدق الأغذية الممثل الدائم للجماهيرية لدى منظمة الأغذية والزراعة ـ روما
                                                                   ARABIE SAOUDITE (ROYAUME D')
                                                                   Delegate
                                                                      Atef Y. BUKHARI
                                                                                                                            Rome
   Beshir SAID
                                                                      Ambassador of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
   Director-General, Planning Department بشير المبروك سعيد بشير المبروك سعيد مدير عام ألتخطيط والمتابعة والاحصاء المانة الاستصلاح الزراعي وتعمير الاراضي طرابلس
                                                                            عاطف يحيى بخارى
ممثل المملكة الحربية السحودية الدائم
لدى منظمة الاغذية والزراعة
MAURITANIA, MAURITANIE
                                                                   SOMALIA - SOMALIE
MOROCCO - MAROC
                                                                   Delegate
                                                                     H.E. Mohamed ALI NUR
                                                                                                                   Mogadiscio
                                                         عمـان
OMAN
                                                                     Minister of Livestock, Forestry and Range
                                                                   Alternates
Delegate
                                                                     Mahmoud Abdi NUR
   Mohammed Redha HASSAN
                                                       Muscat
   Director-General of Agriculture
                                                                     Vice-Minister, Ministry of Agriculture
   Ministry of Agriculture and Fisheries
                                                                     Shire Suudi MOHAMED
                                                                                                                   Mogadiscio
                  محمد رضا حسن
مدير عام وزارة الزراعة
وزارة الزراعة والثروة السمنية ــ مسقط
                                                                     Vice-Minister, Ministry of Fisheries
                                                                     Abdulatif Haji ABDULAAHI
                                                                                                                   Mogadiscio
                                                                     Derei General Manager
PAKISTAN
                                                                     Bulo Marerta Irrigation Project
Delegate
                                                                     Abdi Rage JAMA
                                                                                                                   Mogadiscio
   H.E. Vice-Admiral
                                                                     General Manager, ONAT
  Muhammed FAZIL JANJUA
                                                   Islamabad
                                                                     Ismail Ali NOOH
  Minister for Food, Agriculture and Cooperatives
                                                                                                                   Mogadiscio
                                                                     Director, Planning Department
Alternates
                                                                     Ministry of Livestock, Forestry and Range
  Abdul WAHEED
                                                         Rome
  Ambassador and Permanent Representative
                                                                                                                   السحجودان
                                                                  SUDAN - SOUDAN
  of Pakistan to FAO
                                                                  Delegate
  Ajmal Mahmood QURSHI
                                                   Islamabad
                                                                     H.E. Osman HAKIM
  Deputy Secretary, International Coordination
                                                                                                                     Khartoum
                                                                     Minister of Agriculture
  Ministry of Food, Agriculture and Cooperatives
Associate
  Tanwir AHMED
                                                         Rome
  Counsellor and Alternate Representative
                                                                  Alternates
  of Pakistan to FAO
                                                                     Amir Abdalla KHALIL
                                                                                                                           Rome
                                                                    Permanent Representative of Sudan to FAO امير عبد الله خليل معشل السود ان الدائم لدى منظمة الأغذية والزراعة ـ رومـــا
QATAR
                                                          قط_
Delegate
  Ahmad Abdul Rahman AL-MANEH
                                                         Doha
                                                                    Gamal Mohamed AHMED
Director, Minister's Office
جمال محمد أحمد
مدير منتب الوزيو
الخرطوم
  Under-Secretary
  Ministry of Industry and Agriculture
                           أحمد عبد الرحمن المانع
وكيل وزارة الصناعة والزراعة
Alternate
  Ibrahim Hamad AL-BADER
                                                         Doha
  Director of Agricultural Affairs
                                                                  SYRIA - SYRIE
                                                                                                                           سوري
                              ابراهم حمد البدر
مدير الشوون الزراعية
الدوحـــة
                                                                  Delegate
                                                                    Hassan SEOUD
                                                                                                                     Damascus
                                                                    Deputy Minister of Agriculture
Associate
 Naim AL-BAKER
Assistant Director of Fisheries
مساعد مدير الثروة السمئية
الدوحــــة
                                                                    Ministry of Agriculture and Agrarian Reform
                                                         Doha
                                                                        حسن سعود
تائب وزیر الزراعة
وزارة الزراعة والا صلاح الزراعی ـــد مشق
------
                                                                  Alternate
                                                                    Allouch ARFAN
                                                                    Director of Planification and Statistics
                                                                    Ministry of Agriculture and Agrarian Reform
                                                                عرفان علوش
مد بر التخطيط في وزارة الزراعة والأصلاح الزراعي
د مشـــــة
```

```
Associate
                                                                      Alternate
   Abdul KARIM EIDO
                                                       Damascus
                                                                         Hassan AL-HOREIBI
                                                                                                                                  Rome
                                                                         Permanent Representative to FAO حسن على أحمد الحريين الممثل الدائم للجمهورية العربية اليمنية للدى منظمة الاغذية والزراعة ـ روما
   Adviser, State Planning Commission
عبد الكريم عيد و
مستشار في هيئة تخطيط الدولة ـد مشق
TUNISIA – TUNISIE
Délégué
                                                                      Associates
                                                                         Lotf AL-ANSI
   Adel KAMOUN
                                                                                                                                Sana'a
   Chef du Cabinet du Ministère de l'agriculture عادل نصون
عادل نصون
رئيس ديوان الوزير
وزارة الفلاحــة
                                                                         Director-General, Planning Department
                                                                         Ministry of Agriculture and Fisheries
                                                                                           لطف العنسى
مدير عام التخطيط والاحصا<sup>م</sup>
وزارة الزراعة والثروة السطية
 Suppléants
                                                                         Mohammed AL-NOWEIRA
                                                                                                                                Sana 'a
   Mohamed ABDELHADI
                                                             Rome
                                                                         Director of Statistics
   Représentant permanent de la Tunisie
                                                                         Ministry of Agriculture and Fisheries
   auprès de la FAO
                                                                                                             محمد النويوا
       محمد عبد الهادى
ممثل تونس الدائم لدى منظمة الأغذية والزراعة
رومسسا
                                                                                             مدير الأحصاء
وزارة الزراعة والثروة السملية
                                                           Tunis
                                                                                     جمهورية اليمن الديمقراطية الشعبية
   Directeur général de l'enseignement, de la
   recherche et de la vulgarisation
                  حمدة حقصيـــة
مدير عام التحليم والبحوث والارشاد
                                                                     YEMEN, PEOPLE'S DEMOCRATIC REPUBLIC OF
                                                                     REPUBLIQUE POPULAIRE DEMOCRATIQUE DU YEMEN
                                                                     Delegate
                                                                        H.E. Mohamed Suliman NASSER
                                      الامارات العربية المتحدة
 UNITED ARAB EMIRATES
                                                                        Minister of Agriculture and Agrarian Reform
                                                                                          محمد سليمان نا مسسر
وزير الزراعة والا صلاح الزراعي
عدن
EMIRATS ARABES UNIS
Delegate
                                                           Dubai
   Hamad A. SALMAN
   Deputy Minister of Agriculture and Fisheries
                    حمد عبد الله سلمان.
نائب وزير الزراعة والثروة السمكية
وزارة الزراعة والثروة السمكيـــــة
                                                                     Alternates
                                                                        Anwar M. KHALED
                                                                                                                                 Rome
                                                                        Permanent Representative of the PDR Yemen
                                                                                أنور محمد خالد
سفير اليمن الديمقراطية لدى المنظمة
سفير
Alternates
   Mohammed Hassan MAKKI
                                                           Dubai
   Director of Administration
   Ministry of Agriculture and Fisheries
                                                                        Mohamed A. MANSOOR
                                                                                                                                 Aden
                                                                        Asistant to Vice-Minister of Fisheries
       محمد حسن ملى مدي النواعة والثروة السملية مدير الادارة سوزارة الزراعة والثروة السملية
                                                                        Ministry of Fisheries
                                                                                        محمد منصـــور
مساعد نائب وزير الثروة السملية
   Obaid Mohammed JUMA
                                                           Dubai
   Vice-Director, Plant Resources Department
                                                                        Issam LUQMAN
                                                                                                                                 Aden
   Ministry of Agriculture and Fisheries
                                                                        Director, Department of Planning
                                                                        Ministry of Agriculture and Agrarian Reform
                   عبيد محمد جمصة
بأثب مدير دائرة الثروة النباتية
وزارة الزراعة والثروة السميــــة ــ
                                                                                         عصام لقمان
مدير ادارة التخطيط
وزارة الزراعة والاصلاح الزراعي
Associate
  Mounir H. ALLAISSI
                                                           Dubai
                                                                    مراقبون من البلد ان الأعضاء من خارج الاقل
OBSERVERS FROM MEMBER NATIONS NOT IN THE REGION
OBSERVATEURS DES ETATS MEMBRES QUI NE SONT PAS DE
   Foreign Relations Officer
  Ministry of Agriculture and Fisheries
                        منير حسن الليش
مسوئول الملاقات الخارجية
وزارة الزراعة والثيروة السملية
                                                                     LA REGION
                                                                     FRANCE
                                                                                                                               فرنسسا
                                                                       Marc MAUPAS-OUDINOT
الجمهورية التربياة اليمنياة
YEMEN ARAB REPUBLIC - REPUBLIQUE ARABE DU YEMEN
                                                                                                                               Paris
                                                                       Administrateur civil
                                                                       Bureau de la coopération et des échanges
Delegate
                                                                       Service des relations internationales
  H.E. Ahmed Ali AL-HAMDANI
                                                         Sana'a
                                                                       Ministère de l'agriculture
  Minister of Agriculture and Fisheries
                               أحمد على الهمداني
وزير الزراعة والثروةالس
صنحسساً
                                                                       Patrick PASCAL
                                                                                                                               Paris
                                                                       Secrétaire adjoint (Orient) des affaires
                                                                       étrangères
```

Direction des Nations Unies et des Organisations

Ministère des relations extérieures

internationales

GREECE - CRECE

اليونان

Vassilios VASSALOS Counsellor of Embassy Ministry of Foreign Affairs Athens

Sotiris LEONTIDES

NETHERLANDS - PAYS-BAS

Athens

President of the Greek National Committee

Ministry of Agriculture

مولند ا

Alexander J.F. HEYDENDAEL

Damascus

Agricultural Attaché, Netherlands Embassy

UNITED KINGDOM - ROYAUME UNI

المملئة المتحدة

G.F. RANCE

Nicosia

Frist Secretary, British High Commission

الولايات المتحدة الأمريكيـــة UNITED STATES OF AMERICA - ETATS-UNIS D'AMERIQUE

George J. DIETZ Alternate US Representative to FAO

United States Embassy Michael D. METELITS

Rome

Alternate US Representative to FAO United States Embassy

منظمة التحرير الفلسطيني

PALESTINE LIBERATION ORGANIZATION ORGANISATION DE LIBERATION DE LA PALESTINE

Saad GHANDOOR

Damascus

Director-General

Economic and Agricultural Department

سعد غند ور مدير عام الدائرة الاقتصادية والزراعية ــد مشق

Director, Economic Department

على أبو الهوى مد بو في الد أئرة الاقتصادية

## ممثلون عن الأمم المتحدة ووكالاتها المتخصصة

REPRESENTATIVES OF THE UNITED NATIONS AND SPECIALIZED AGENCIES

REPRESENTANTS DES NATIONS UNIES ET INSTITUTIONS SPECIALISEES

ا<u>للجنة</u> الاقتصادية **لخربسي** آسيـ

ECONOMIC COMMISSION FOR WESTERN ASIA (ECWA) COMMISSION ECONOMIQUE POUR L'ASIE OCCIDENTALE

Abdul Sahib ALWAN

Baghdad Director, Joint ECWA/FAO Agricultural Division

برنامج الأمم المتحدة للتنميــــة

UNITED NATIONS DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME (UNDP) , PROGRAMME DES NATIONS UNIES POUR LE DEVELOPPEMENT

Guy van DOOSSELAERE

Beirut

Resident Representative of the UNDP in Lebanon

Roger GUARDA

Resident Representative of the UNDP in Cyprus

Anthony Robert PATTEN

Nicosia

Deputy Resident Representative of the UNDP in Cyprus

Andreas KYRIAKOU President of the TUIAFPW and General Secretary

of the Agriculture, Forestry and General Workers' Union

بريامج الأغذية العالمي

WORLD FOOD PROGRAMME (WFP) PROGRAMME ALIMENTAIRE MONDIAL

J.C. TNGRAM

Rome

Executive Director

Adnan MIDANI

Nicosia

WFP Representative in Lebanon and Cyprus

الصندوق الدولى للتنمية الزراعيـــة

INTERNATIONAL FUND FOR AGRICULTURAL DEVELOPMENT (IFAD)

FONDS INTERNATIONAL DE DEVELOPPEMENT AGRICOLE

Samir ASMAR, Director

Rome

Near East and North Africa Division

مراقبون من المنظمات الحكومية الدولية

OBSERVERS FROM INTERGOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS OBSERVATEURS DES ORGANISATIONS

INTERGOUVERNEMENTALES

المرئز المربى لدراسات المناطق الجافة والأراضي القاحلة

ARAB CENTRE FOR THE STUDY OF ARID ZONES AND DRY LANDS (ACSAD)

CENTRE ARABE D'ETUDE DES TERRES ARIDES ET NON IRRIGUEES

Mohamed EL-KHASH Director-General

Damascus

المنظمة الحربية للتنمية الزراعية

ARAB ORGANIZATION FOR AGRICULTURAL DEVELOPMENT (AOAD)

ORGANISATION ARABE POUR LE DEVELOPPEMENT AGRICOLE

Mohamed Hassan EL-JACK

Khartoum

Head of Animal Production Section

المئتب الدولى لأوبئة الحيوانات

INTERNATIONAL OFFICE OF EPIZOOTICS (OIE) OFFICE INTERNATIONAL DES EPIZOOTIES

K. POLYDOROU

Nicosia

Director of Veterinary Services Department of Veterinary Services

Ministry of Agriculture and Natural Resources

مراقبون من المنظمات غير الحكومية

OBSERVERS FROM NON-GOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS OBSERVATEURS DES ORGANISATIONS NON GOUVERNEMENTALES

اتحاد المهندسين الزراعيين العرب

FEDERATION OF ARAB AGRICULTURAL ENGINEERS (FAAE) FEDERATION DES INGENIEURS AGRICOLES ARABES

Yahia BAKKOUR

Damascus

Nicosia

Secretary-General

TRADE UNIONS INTERNATIONAL OF AGRICULTURAL, FORESTRY AND PLANTATION WORKERS (TUIAFPW) UNION INTERNATIONALE DES SYNDICATS DES TRAVAILLEURS DE L'AGRICULTURE, DES FORETS ET DES PLANTATIONS

WORLD FEDERATION OF TRAI	NDIALE	FAO STAFF E. Saouma	موظفو منظمة الأغذية والزراعة Director-General
Andreas KYRIAKOU General Secretary of t Forestry and General V		S. Jum'a	Assistant Director-General and Regional Representative for the Near East
CONFERENCE SECRETARIAT	أمانة الموصنميير	J.E. Carroz	Secretary-General, FAO World Conference on Fisheries Management and Development
Conference Secretary:	K.A. Sabet	M.H. Abbas	Assistant to ADG/ES
Conference Officer:	M. Gaieb	A. Al Jaff	Chief, AGON
Assistant Conference Officer:	M. Millanès (Ms)	A. Baille	FAO Representative, Lebanon
	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Reports Officer:	A. Arar	J. Chami	FAO Representative, Syria
Press Officer: Documents Officers:	G. de Sabatino B. Conti	A. Cortas	Senior Economist, Near East Group, ESPP
	A. Sofan (Ms)	S. El Shishtawy	Chief, DDFN
Registration Officer:	M. Nasr (Ms)	Y. Ghannam	Senior Liaison Officer, NECP
Interpreters:		K. Hamad	Senior Officer, FO
K. Annabi A. Ben Ameur	J. Aouad (Ms) M.A. Ben Yedder	H.M. Horning	Chief, AGLW
C. Bekalti	M. Joreige (Ms)	I. Loerbroks	Assistant to ADG/AG
K. Ezzat S. Abdel Sayed (Ms)	D. Karara (Ms) A. Salem	R. Moreno	Director, ESH
0. Abou Zahr	W. Skaf	A.G. Roche	Legal Counsel
Translators:		0. Sabry	Senior Officer, ESH
M.A. Anabtawi F. Barner (Ms) M.I. El Khoudari	J. Maréchal M. Sakr I. Taha Moaz	S. Stampach	Regional Representative for Europe, REUR
Secretaries: G. Abboud (Ms) A. Abdel-Halim M. Aloise (Ms) G. di Bernardo (Ms) Z. Kadry (Ms) F. Karaoui (Ms)	C. Le Bras Miani (Ms) M. Cherki-Bitti (Ms) A. Mezzawi (Ms) C. Rossetto (Ms) F. Sonble (Ms) M. Walsh (Ms)		
Technicians: F. Bucigno	M. Onofri		

#### LIST OF DOCUMENTS

NERC/82/1	Provisional Annotated Agenda
NERC/82/2	Report on the FAO Activities in the Region including Action taken on the Main Recommendations made by the Fifteenth Regional Conference
NERC/82/3	FAO Near East Government Cooperative Programme; Evaluation of Past Experience and Plans for the Future
NERC/82/4	Near East Regional Commissions:
	I: Review of Performance and Proposals to Improve Effectiveness
	II: Report on the Sessions Planned for 1980-81 Biennium
NERC/82/5	Follow-up of WCARRD Programme of Action and Progress made in the Establishment of the Regional Centre for Integrated Rural Development
NERC/82/6	Report on the Preparation of the FAO World Conference on Fisheries Management and Development
NERC/82/7	Representation of the Region on the Consultative Group on International Agricultural Research (CGIAR)

#### NERC/82/INF Series

NERC/8	82/	INF.	/1	Information Note

NERC/82/INF/2 Provisional Timetable

NERC/82/INF/3 Provisional List of Documents

#### APPENDIX D

#### STATEMENT BY THE DIRECTOR-GENERAL

Mr Chairman, Your Excellencies, Distinguished Heads and Members of Delegations, Ladies and Gentlemen.

#### Gratitude to the President and Government of Cyprus

It gives me great pleasure to express, on behalf both of FAO and of yourselves, our gratitude and appreciation to His Excellency President Spyros Kyprianou, and the Government of Cyprus, for so generously playing host to this Conference.

I avail myself of this opportunity to declare that FAO is impressed by the excellent performance achieved by this ancient agricultural country, and to commend the resolute efforts made by the Cyprus Government in the agricultural sector.

#### Congratulations to Conference Chairman

I should also extend my personal congratulations to His Excellency Dimitrios Christodoulou, Minister of Agriculture and Natural Resources of Cyprus, on his unanimous election to the Chair of this session. I wish him and the Vice-Chairmen all success in guiding this Conference and in coordinating its activities.

It also gives me great pleasure to welcome all the distinguished heads and members of delegations, and the observers.

#### World Food, Agricultural and Economic Situation

Mr Chairman,

Allow me to begin my speech with a general review of the world food, agricultural and economic situation and, in particular, that of the Near East Region.

#### Progress of agricultural production

There was some progress in world agricultural production in 1981-82; the rate of annual growth was 2.9 percent, compared with 2.5 percent in the seventies.

#### World cereal stocks

World cereal stocks also increased from 231 million tons in 1981 to an estimated 270 million tons in 1982 (i.e., 18 percent of estimated annual world consumption).

It should be pointed out that the current decrease in cereal prices, particularly that of wheat, provides a golden opportunity for importing countries to replenish their stocks and increase their cereal reserves.

However, this rather optimistic view conceals other gloomy aspects of the world aconomic situation.

Inflation and economic recession, in the industrialized countries, are seriously affecting developing countries and are reflected in diverse constraints to development: for example, high interest rates and reduced development aid. There is a decrease of about 30 percent in resources available for development from the World Bank, UNDP and IFAD.

Moreover, the burden of debts in non-oil-exporting developing countries, the dependence of their economies mainly on agricultural and raw material exports which are unstable and suffer from declining prices in international markets, and the protectionist policies which reduce the export revenues of those countries, all these contribute to the serious deterioration of their trade with developed countries and to difficulties in their balance of payments.

#### Food Aid

In the midst of this crisis-prone economic situation, the annual target for food aid has not, so far, been achieved.

You will recall that this target was set at 10 million tons of grain in 1974. This figure, in my opinion, is no longer adequate and should be raised to 17 or 18 million tons for 1985.

Also, it should be mentioned that the estimated actual contributions for 1982/83 will not exceed 9 million tons.

#### International Emergency Food Reserve

The figure for the International Emergency Food Reserve (IEFR), set at 500 000 tons annually in 1975, was achieved only last year thanks to a generous contribution by the EEC, which granted 100 000 tons of cereals, and to the response by OPEC countries to my proposal to contribute US\$ 25 million in 1981 and 1982.

This agreement with OPEC provides for the possibility of food aid being purchased from developing countries and being shipped in their own vessels; this food aid may also be used for development projects if it is not required for emergencies.

Under the World Food Programme (WFP) and the TEFR, all countries in the Region afflicted by natural disasters such as flood or drought or by man-made disasters such as war were granted important quantities of food aid. Of the disaster-stricken population 80 percent or 3 million people were refugees in Pakistan; they were supplied with US\$ 191 million of food aid.

On the other hand, the International Monetary Fund (IMF) responded positively to my proposal, submitted within the framework of my Five Point Plan of Action for World Food Security, which called for the provision of financing facilities and credits to facilitate cereal imports required by low-income countries suffering from deficits in their balance of payments.

#### Food and agricultural situation in the Near East

This was a short review of the world food, agricultural and economic situation. In the Near East Region, however, the food and agricultural situation remained below our expectations. During 1980/81, the rate of agricultural production lagged behind that of other regions; in the first year the growth rate amounted to 2.3 percent, while it was only 1.9 percent in the second year, as against a global growth rate in agricultural production of about 2.9 percent.

Considering the high annual rate of population increase in the Near East, this means that actual per caput food production in the Region has continued to dwindle.

#### Progress achieved by some countries

The Region is also witnessing great discrepancies in agricultural production from one country to another. Saudi Arabia and the Libyan Arab Jamahiriya made significant progress in increasing their wheat production, as a result of their price support policies.

However, data available so far for 1982 indicate that cereal production this year will be lower than last year's levels, because of lower production in Syria, Jordan, Lebanon, the People's Democratic Republic of Yemen, the Yemen Arab Republic and in

North Africa. This drop in cereal production is estimated at about two million tons. As for cotton, production this year will also decrease in both Turkey and the Arab Republic of Egypt, with better prospects for Syria and the Sudan.

In general, the total growth of agricultural production in the Region will not exceed 1.6 percent in 1982.

#### Cereal imports

Because of this discouraging situation, most countries in the Region will have to import the major part of their cereal requirements, and will suffer adverse effects on their balance of payments.

#### The drought in North Africa

The drought which hit North Africa, especially Morocco, worsened the food situation in these countries. Pastures and the whole livestock sector were severely hit.

#### Floods in P.D.R.Y.

By contrast, the People's Democratic Republic of Yemen was affected by floods during March of this year, which caused great damage to crops, livestock, irrigation projects and dams.

#### Desert Locust

Heavy rains that fell in the Gulf of Aden area during this period led to the multiplication and propagation of the desert locust in Djibouti, north-western Somalia and the People's Democratic Republic of Yemen. Such multiplication was also noticed in some areas of Iran and Pakistan and, to a lesser extent, in the Western Desert and northern Mauritania. However, I am relieved to report that the situation does not cause much concern at present.

Mr Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen,

#### The tragic situation in the Region

When examining the agricultural situation in the Region, I cannot ignore the exceptional conditions that prevail in this area, conditions which certainly affect everything related to the development process and especially to agricultural development.

Wars on every side cause destruction and devastation.

Huge sums of money are being spent to buy destructive machines, instead of being devoted to agricultural development and food production.

Millions of innocent people are fleeing the spectre of war in Afghanistan, Lebanon, Somalia, the Sudan and other countries; they are left homeless and without food.

#### The Regional Programme

#### Accomplishments during the last two years

Now a few words about the Regional Programme. The Assistant Director-General will speak on this topic, which will be discussed under a separate agenda item. We will listen carefully to your comments, which will be taken into consideration when we prepare the Programme of Work for the next biennium.

In reviewing this Programme, the Conference will note the large number of important activities undertaken during the last two years, and the response of FAO to the previous Conference's recommendations and the actions undertaken to implement them.

#### The future programme

However, in spite of all these efforts and good intentions, agricultural production in the Region has not yet progressed sufficiently to satisfy the increasing need for food.

And there is still a long way to go before the gap between production and consumption can be bridged.

I cannot over-emphasize that there will be no increase in production without sufficient agricultural investment and proper scientific research institutions to serve as the basic reference for the development process.

#### Investment in agriculture

Investment in agriculture has not, so far, been given the necessary priority by the countries of the Region.

Although there has been a notable increase in investments in agriculture during the last two years, this increase falls short of the mark because a large part of it is being eroded by inflation.

If technical and administrative shortcomings are added to that, the general picture of agricultural investment is not very encouraging. It shows, on the contrary, that the present trend toward increased dependency in feeding the people of the Region will continue and become worse in time, unless governments become aware of the negative implications of such a trend and take action to mobilize their potential and their energies for agricultural investment.

#### Increasing investments

It is my belief that it is necessary, first of all, to double the value of present investments in agriculture.

Thereafter, governments should undertake to increase the value of investments over a period of ten years to keep pace with inflation, until such intensive investment bears fruit.

#### Scientific research

With regard to scientific research in agriculture, reports of experts show that this important sector of agricultural infrastructure in the Region is deteriorating rather than improving.

Certain research institutions which provided great services in the past are beginning to show signs of premature ageing for paucity of funds, dispersed efforts, lack of planning, neglect of training and weakening links between research and application - and so forth.

The updating process, the cornerstone for adapting innovative agricultural technology to suit local conditions, has almost come to a halt.

And all this has taken place during a time when agriculture in developed countries has greatly advanced.

While calling for an increase of investment in agriculture, we must realize that agricultural research is the essential prerequisite for good investment.

In the absence of an integrated system of research and development, investments in production will always be fragile and risky.

## Five percent for agricultural scientific research

Therefore, I believe that governments should allocate a minimum of 5 percent of investments in agriculture to support research and development systems, which will contribute actively to the development of agriculture.

#### Agricultural price policy

However, all these efforts to increase agricultural investment and to develop research should be accompanied in some countries of the Region by an agricultural policy designed both to ensure a fair income for the producer, which covers his production costs and leaves a reasonable profit margin, and to fix the price of agricultural products within the purchasing power of the consumer.

Needless to say, such a price policy will be rather burdensome and can only be adopted by the richer countries. However, its consequences are in the best interests of both producer and consumer.

#### Follow-up to the WCARRD Programme of Action

And now I take up the item of the follow-up to the WCARRD Programme of Action.

#### Recommendations of the previous Conference

The Conference may recall that during its Fifteenth Session it expressed satisfaction with FAO's activities in the follow-up to the WCARRD Programme of Action. It gave special importance to the programme for assisting nations in setting up social and economic indicators for measuring progress, and for gradually alleviating poverty in rural areas.

#### Tunis meeting

I am pleased to record that an Expert Consultation on Socio-economic Indicators for the Follow-up and Evaluation of Agrarian Reform and Rural Development in the Near East Region was held recently in Tunis, with the participation of experts from several countries in the Region.

Within the context of the WCARRD Programme of Action, high-level missions were carried out in Somalia, Jordan, Oman and the Yemen Arab Republic to assist in drawing up agrarian reform and rural development policies.

Many significant achievements have been made since your last Conference recommended initiating measures aimed at the establishment of a regional centre for integrated rural development. We are now arranging to convene a conference of plenipotentiaries, as the draft agreement for the establishment of this centre was welcomed by the governments of the Region.

#### Near East Cooperative Programme (NECP)

Mr Chairman, Ladies and Gentlemen,

As regards the NECP, you are all aware that this programme emerged as a genuine idea for regional cooperation between the affluent nations of the Region and those in need of aid and assistance.

This programme followed the line of cooperative agreements between FAO and other donor countries such as Scandinavia, Italy, Switzerland, Canada, etc.

The idea materialized at the Eleventh Regional Conference held in Kuwait in 1972, and the Programme itself was approved at the Twelfth Regional Conference held in Amman, Jordan in 1974.

In the following year the Programme became operative when the more prosperous countries of the Region pledged US\$ 29 million as a first step.

Since then FAO has carried out 20 national and 7 regional or sub-regional projects in a number of countries in the Region.

The majority of regional and national projects has been satisfactorily carried out according to their plans of action, and all remaining projects will be implemented by the end of this year.

However, by the end of this same year the Programme will not be able to continue, because its financial resources will be exhausted.

Your Conference issued resolutions and recommendations at its Fourteenth and Fifteenth Sessions to maintain this Programme and appealed to donor countries to provide the necessary funds for a second cycle.

In view of its importance, this subject has been accorded a separate item on the agenda. All that I wish and look forward to is that your discussions should support and maintain the Programme. This Programme has been and is still, in my opinion, a living example of fruitful cooperation between Near East countries. The conclusion of its first cycle, which was only an experimental phase, should certainly not mean the end of this Programme.

#### Regional Commissions

Acting upon a recommendation of your previous Conference, the Secretariat has prepared an assessment of the regional commissions' activities since their establishment. The document is before you for discussion.

In fact, these commissions are technical bodies set up under the FAO Constitution to give representatives of member nations an opportunity to exchange views, advice, experience and information on technical matters relevant to the respective areas.

#### Matters for consideration

The persistent question that faced the previous two sessions and still looms large on this present occasion is: Have these commissions undertaken their assigned tasks? In other words, did the countries in the Region participate sufficiently in the activities of these commissions so as to justify the efforts required? If the answer is negative, what are the drawbacks and how can they be remedied? I believe that the Conference will attach special importance to this item and discuss it objectively, and that its recommendations will further the basic aims of these commissions.

#### World Conference on the Management and Development of Fisheries

I now turn to the World Conference on the Management and Development of Fisheries. For despite the vast potential in the Near East, its fish production is still short of the required level. Moreover, it has not benefited from the new prospects that opened up with the creation of the Exclusive Economic Zones adopted by the Third United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea. The FAO World Conference, to be held in 1984, will take up a host of development problems that are related to this important sector in developing countries. FAO has been preparing for this World Conference through consultations with relevant committees and through contacts with countries. Discussing this World Conference as a separate item on your agenda, and on other Regional Conference agendas, is only a part of such consultations. It is meant to identify the issues which the countries wish the World Conference to deal with and the desired practicable results. I really feel that your Conference will come up with recommendations and guidelines which will help to make the World Conference a success.

#### Collaboration with Regional Organizations and Commissions

FAO attaches great importance to the promotion of close collaboration with regional organizations, aiming thereby to serve the interests of member countries through its assistance to such organizations. FAO is fully aware that good coordination with such organizations in joint activities will eventually lead to the solution of innumerable problems relating to agriculture, forestry and fisheries throughout the Region.

#### FAO/Arab League agreements

FAO has entered into cooperative agreements with several major regional governmental organizations such as the Arab League and its specialized agencies in the field of food and agriculture.

#### Arab Regional Organizations

The scope of such collaboration is under constant review in order to secure more flexibility and to expand cooperation. To cite only one example, FAO last September signed a cooperative agreement with the Council of Arab Economic Unity in replacement of the document signed in 1968. Cooperative agreements were more recently signed with the Arab Authority for Agricultural Investment and Development in Khartoum. Final steps are being taken to sign a similar agreement with the Islamic Conference Organization in Jeddah. In addition, FAO cooperates satisfactorily with other organizations and commissions: the General Secretariat of the Conference of the Arab Ministers of Agriculture of the Gulf States and Arabian Peninsula; the Arab Gulf Cooperation Council; the Arab Gulf Fund; and other development funds in other countries.

It is clear to all concerned that cooperation between FAO and regional organizations has no limits. FAO is always seeking more cooperation and pledges its experience and expertise to this end, within the available financial resources.

#### World Food Day (WFD)

Lastly, I wish to mention World Food Day, which was observed the world over only a few days ago. All peoples took part in celebrating that day which I regard as a reminder for each and everyone (especially the rich), both countries and individuals, that our mission is to liberate man from hunger and malnutrition. What an enormous challenge! But it is an inescapable one that has to be faced with commensurate will and determination.

What inspires optimism is the fact that we already have a genuine and honest conception of how big the food problem is in the world. We are fully aware, too, of what is incumbent upon each of us, an awareness which I believe to be the first step in the eradication of hunger.

#### Conclusion

I repeat that we must work harder to produce our food inside our Region, relying on ourselves and our potential.

Investments in agriculture should be doubled or else the situation will deteriorate drastically.

However, such investments must rest on sound bases and on in-depth studies, so that they will not be more smoke than fire. FAO is willing to place itself at your disposal and to collaborate with your respected governments in drawing up development programmes and projects.

We do not claim omnipotence nor can we satisfy all the demands for development, but FAO's past record of creative and efficient initiative is the guarantee that we will always strive to do our best as sincere partners.

In conclusion, Mr Chairman, may I wish all success to you and to your Conference.

Thank you.